City of PCB City Hall

. 17007 PCB
Panama City Beach Parkway
PCB, FL. 32413
P: (850) 233-5100
F: (850) 233-5108
www.pcbfl.gov

CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH
PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES
October 8, 2025
MINUTES TO THE REGULAR MEETING

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wakstein at 1:00 p.m. and Ms. Deese was
asked to call the roll. Members present were Mr. Painter, Mr. Thomas, Mr. Coleman,

Mr. Morehouse, Mr. Wittstruck, Mr. Bishop, and Chairman Wakstein. Mr. Bishop led the
Pledge of Allegiance.

ITEM NO. 3 Approval of September 10, 2025, Planning Board Meeting
Minutes

Chairman Wakstein asked if there were any comments or corrections to the meeting
minutes. A motion to approve was made by Mr. Morehouse, seconded by Mr. Bishop.
Ms. Deese called the roll.

Mr. Thomas Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes
Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Painter Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

ITEM NO. 4 Public Comments — Non-Agenda Items

There were no public comments.

ITEM NO. 5 Election- Vice Chair
(new item)

A motion to nominate Mr. Morehouse was made by Mr. Coleman, seconded by
Mr. Painter.

Mr. Thomas Yes Mr. Bishop Yes

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes

Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Painter Yes

Chairman Wakstein Yes

ITEM NO. 6 Juan Carlos Hooper and Lauren Christian Hooper are requesting
(previously 5) authorization of a Variance from Land Development Code Section

5.02.01.D.3 to reduce the required 5’ rear setback to 3.1, for a
variance of 1.9’ and Table 4.02.02.A to reduce the 5’ side setback
to 4.3’, for a variance of 0.7°. The property is located at 405 Beth
Street (Parcel: 34210-020-000).

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in for testimony.
The application and staff report were added to the record. Ms. Chester acknowledged that

all requirements of the application notices were satisfied. Ms. Deese was asked to call
Jennings Act.

Mr. Thomas had nothing to disclose. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.
Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.

Page 1 of 3
Minutes of the Planning Board

October 8, 2025



Mr. Morehouse had nothing to disclose. Mr. Painter had nothing to disclose.
Chairman Wakstein had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Juan Carlos Hooper, applicant, stated he purchased the property in 2023 and was
unaware of permitting issues of the existing shed located on the property. The roof of the
home collapsed shortly after the purchase, resulting in unexpected costs that led to the
decision to rent the home. During the eviction process, the tenant made a report to an
inspector, who realized the shed was not within 5’ of the property line. At that time, the
inspector required power and water to be disconnected from the shed. Mr. Hooper
explored moving or demolishing the shed. He noted the shed was used as his personal
studio, had not generated complaints, and was not a nuisance.

Mr. Coleman asked whether the shed was constructed after the adoption of the 2012

Land Development Code and was included in the property inspection or seller's disclosure.
Mr. Hooper responded that the shed was not part of the home inspection and there was
disclosure provided by the seller. Mr. Coleman also inquired about the level of completion
and whether the shed had electrical and plumbing connections. Mr. Hooper confirmed that
the shed was “somewhat finished” and used for storage.

Chairman Wakstein asked how the home was found and if there was an online
description with the listing. Mr. Hooper acknowledged that he knew there was no permit,
but the realtor said that it was “not a big deal.” Chairman Wakstein inquired about the
physical shape and uniqueness of the lot. Mr. Hooper responded that the shed was
already built. He confirmed that there is nothing unique about the parcel. Chairman
Wakstein expressed concern regarding the proximity of the structure to the fence and
potential stormwater impacts on adjacent properties. He asked Mr. Hooper to compare the
height of the structure to the home. Mr. Hooper responded that the shed is shorter.

Ms. Chester presented the staff report. She was unable to find positive on all eight
variance criteria. The Property Appraiser’s records indicate that the structure was
unpermitted. The concern was initially reported to Code Enforcement and then forwarded
to the Building Inspector. She estimated date of construction to be 2022.

Michael Kunst, Building Inspector for the City of Panama City Beach, Building and
Planning Department, testified that two (2) owners prior he inspected an electrical service
upgrade that was permitted at the location. At that time, the shed did not exist. The shed
includes plumbing, a shower, kitchen, living space, all tied into the main home’s plumbing.
Water was also connected to the main home. The tenant reported the home’s plumbing

was backing up. He reiterated that no professional inspection had occurred on the installed
structure or systems.

Mr. Coleman asked Mr. Kunst if he had any structural concerns. Mr. Kust confirmed that
he did, noting that the structure appeared to be 4x4 posts with no tie downs. He voiced
concerns of potential damage to other people’s property during high winds. He was unable
to examine the electrical or plumbing but both were installed without a permit.

Mr. Coleman asked if the shed could be moved. Mr. Kunst responded that anything can
be moved.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties and public comment at this time,
there were none. He called for rebuttal at this time.

Mr. Hooper expressed willingness to comply with requirements and work with engineers.
Moving the shed would be costly at the quoted $20,000.

Chairman Wakstein concluded the evidentiary portion of the hearing. He opened closing
arguments.

Mr. Coleman asked Mr. Kunst if he thought a full rebuild would be in order. Mr. Kunst
responded that he did not believe a full rebuild would be required to meet the 120-mph
wind load, block and dig footers, but would be determined by a design professional.

Ms. Lauren Hooper, co-applicant and property owner, stated that she received the
updated last page of the staff report prior to the hearing. She clarified that the tenant was

Page 2 of 3
Minutes of the Planning Board

October 8, 2025



renting the home not the shed which was for the art studio.

Chairman Wakstein stated he did not see a hardship that would justify a variance. He
noted the structure was a habitable space, the lot itself was not unique, and cost

alone was not a valid basis for granting a variance.

Mr. Coleman opposed the variance, he discussed Florida real estate laws for disclosure
as possible recourse for the applicant, and noted nonconformance with other sheds in the
neighborhood.

Mr. Thomas could not support a variance for a structure unable to meet the building code.

Mr. Morehouse and Mr. Bishop believed the issue was more appropriately resolved
through legal action, not a variance.

Mr. Wittstruck observed that compliance with code would likely cost more than the
applicant’'s $20,000 estimate.

Mr. Bishop concluded that approving the variance would undermine the integrity of the
Land Development Code and pose a risk to public safety.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to deny the variance request, seconded by Mr. Thomas.

Mr. Thomas Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes
Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Painter Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to deny passed with a vote of (7-0).

ITEM NO. 7 Code Enforcement Update
(previously 6)

Mr. Smith provided an update from mid-August through mid-September. Most of the
Division’s neighborhood enforcement efforts were in response to tall grass and detrimental
conditions. Enforcement of City ordinances on the beach were primarily in response to
dogs and glass on the beach. The Division collaborated with the Building Division and
Public Works Department to locate unpermitted work.

The Board agreed to reschedule the Wednesday, November 11, 2026, meeting to
Thursday, November 12, 2026, at 1 p.m. due to a conflict with the Veteran’s Day holiday.
The associated application deadline will be adjusted accordingly.

Chairman Wakstein requested that staff schedule a workshop on the Land Development
Code for Board members.

The meeting adjourned at 1:50 p.m.

12 :—;5\ . )
DATEDth; ' fw_dayof fooa, , 2025.

‘/d(h Wak/steln Cﬁalrman

ATTEST:

| «—

B ST

Mellssa Deese, Secretary

Page 3 of 3
Minutes of the Planning Board

October 8, 2025



